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Independent Auditors” Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements to the Shareholders
of Dar Al Arkan Real Estate Development Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of Dar Al Arkan Real Estate Development
Company (A Saudi joint stock company) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the "Group"), which comprise the statement of consolidated financial position as at December 31. 2018,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in shareholders” equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2018, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and
pronouncements issued by Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountants (SOCPA) .

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) endorsed in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical
requirements that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each key audit matter, a
description of how our audit addressed the matter is set out below:
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

The Key Audit Matters

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Evaluation of development properties

The Group maintains development properties consisting
primarily of under construction and development
projects for the purpose af development and sale in its
ordinary course of business, The carrying amount of real
estate propetties is SAR 14.498 billion (31 December
2017: SR 14.874 billion).

All development properties (held for development or
sale) are initially recognized at acquisition cost and
subsequently re-measured at the lower of cost and net
realizable value, whereas their fair value is estimated for
the purpose of disclosure only in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Management has determined the net realizable value of
the developmenl propertics based on internal valuation,
taking into account market data adjusted in comparison
to the characteristics of the concerned properties,
including the inputs used by the management during its
assessment of the expected cash flows and the market
current rental value in which both are exposed to the
changes in the prevailing market forece and the
characteristics of each property in the portfolio,

In addition, the Group has used, where necessary, to
measure the fair value of development property on the
basis of & valuation by an independent valner who holds
a recognised and relevant professional qualification,

During the period, the Group's management conducted
an internal review and cvaluation of the development
properties resulting in an increase in the fair value by
20% (31 December 2017: 35%) through the
development property portfolio as described in note 6.
Management believes that the increase in carrying
amount is a conservative indication of the fair value of
the Group's development propertics,

The valuation of the cost of properties and net realizable
value is a complex process where the change in the
Group's estimate of the selling price and the cost of
construction would materially affeet the carrying
amount of the properties held for development and sale
in the Group's conselidated financial statements.,

* We assessed lhe appropriateness of
evaluation methods and asstimptions, critical
Judgment areas and estimates uged by
management in the internal evaluation
process;

*» We have cngaged in discussions with
management and have evaluated the relevant
assumptions used, based on market daia
where possible:

* We have tested the appropriateness of the
key inputs used in the valuation of properties
held for development and sale;

* [or commercial and residential properties
held for sale, we have compared the main
assumptions uscd by management with
exiernal data in the area of business and
comparable  real estate  transactions,
particularly selling prices;

*  We have assessed the reason for changes
in key inputs, estimates and assumptions for
the prior period;

» We assessed the effectivencss and
efficiency of management staff experience in
the evaluation process;

* Based on the results of our valuation, we
have estimated the adequacy of the
disclosures in the Group's consclidated
financial statements.
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Evaluaiion of investment properties

Investment properties are stated in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position at cost,
while their fair value for the purpose of disciosure is
determined only in the notcs to the consolidated
financial statements,

The Group has measured the fair valve of the
investment properties by enpaging an independent
valuer who holds a recognised and relevant
professional qualification and has recent experience
in the location and category of the investment
property being valued.

The fair value of investment properties has been
estimated using the income capitalization method.
Annvual cash flows are estimated by extrapolating and
reconciling the current rental income based on their
optimal occupancy and then capitalizing it at an
annual remtal rate of 6-8% between the leased
residential and commercial properties in order to
reach the estimated fair value shown in the note 3,

The valuation of investment properties iy critical to
our audit becavse of its importance, complexity and
significant reliance on a range of assumptions
including expected lease values, expectad returns,
pecupancy rate and discount rate.

= We have evaluated the significam
assumptions used by the management in ifs
assessment that include expected rental
values, expected returns, occupancy rate and
discount rate. We have supporied these
assumptions  with  rental  agreements,
published indicators and comparative market
data available,

o We svaluated key inputs and assumptions
in the evaluation model and analyzed their
sensitivity to key elements;

o We also assessed the reason for changes in
key inputs, assessments and assumptions for
the prior peried,

o We assessed the effectiveness and
efficiency of the experience of management
staff in the evaluation process;

= For the independent evaluator, we assessed
the efficiency, independence and integrity of
the external evaluation firin; and

¢ Based on the results of our valuation, we
have estimated the adequacy of the
disclosures in the Group's consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue recognition from sule of properties

The Group has early adopted TFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with customers as the Group belicves that
this represents a bhetter performance of the Group’s
real estate acttvities.

Revenue recognition from the sale of properties
including residential units, commercial units and
parcels of land, includes significant inherent risks as
a result of judgments and estimates used, The audit
provisions on the percentage of completion of the
projects, including the costs incurred to date against
the total expected value of the project and the stage
of completion of the project in the absence of the sale
of all the units under development are all matters that
require great attention during the audit, inchuding:

¢ We have audited the contracts for the sale
of real estate units mncluding residential units,
commercial units and land plots to renew the
Group's performance obligations under these
contracts and to  assess whether these
obligations are met over time or at any given
time on the basis of the standard established
by TFRS 15. Cur focus under these contracts
is to determine whether the Group has a
binding right in payments for performance
performed to date to be satisfied with the
revenue earned to date under these contracts;
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- The ability of the Group to make payments on | »+ We have examined the intemal contro)
work performed in accordance with the terms of | procedures  on  the  Group's  budget
its contracts and therefore meet the requirements | preparation  process 1o determine  its
of [FRS 15 regarding revenue recognition over | accuracy, with particular emphasis on the
time; total projected costs of completion of the

. ; rojects invoelving the uni :
- Total expected cost of completion of the real real estate proj ving the units sold;

estate project covering the unit sold; ¢+ We conducted a detailed tests based on a

- Probability of collection of remaining sales; sample bases to determine whether the costs
incurred on the projects were recorded and
capitalized. We alse  assessed the
distribution of these costs on the sold and
unseld units based on the respective area of
the real estate development projects by
reviewing the summary of the cost
allocation within the project prepared by the
management,

- The value of infrasiructure costs ta he incurred Lo
complete the project.

Oiher Information

Other information consists of other information from the information included in the Company’s annual
report for the year ended 31 December 2018, other than the consolidated financial statements and the
auditors’ report thereon, We expect to obtain the Annual Report for the year ended 2018 after the date of
this auditor's report, The Group's management is responsible for the other information mentioned in its
annual report.

Quy opinion on the consolidated financial statements does nat caver other information and we do not and
will not express any form of assurance ¢cenclusion thereon.

In our audit of the consolidated financial statements, it is our responsibility to read the information
described above. In doing so, we cansider whether the other information is not materially consistent with
the consolidated fmancial statements or knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

When we read the other information, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are
required (¢ communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Tinancial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs that are endorsed in the Kingdem of Saudi Arabia and other
standards and pronouncements issued by SOCPA, Company’s By-laws and companies regulation and for
such internal contral as management determines is necessary 1o enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from 1naterial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Company or 1o cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's consolidated financial
reporting process.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consnlidated Financial Statements

Our objectives arc to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinien. Reasenable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists,
Missiatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the apgresate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of vsers taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraund or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for onr opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material musstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

» Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinien on the effectiveness
of the Campany’s internal contral.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management,

- Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 10 the related
disclosures in the consclidated financial statenments or, if such disclosures arc inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence abtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern,

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in & manner that achieves fair presentation.

= Oblain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion an the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direclion, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other malters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the malters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters thar
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and arc
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therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

The article No.135 of the companies’ regulations requires that the auditor should include in his audit report
any violation of the Companies® Regulations or the Company’s articles of association. During our audit,
we did not note any violation of the Companies' Regulations or the Company’s articles of association.

For Moharirfsg,m—hai] & Co.

Suliman Al-Kharashi ohammed A. Al-haij
Certified Public Accountant Certified Public Accountant
License No. {91) License No. (119)
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DAR AL ARKAN REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT COMPANY

SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECMBER 2018
Notes 2018 2017
SR 000 SR 000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment properties, net 5 1,693,141 3,290,010
Long-term development properties 6 14,148,262 14,751,565
Property and equipment, net T7&22a 83,085 70,925
Investments in associates and joint ventures 8 826,621 g11,189
Other assets 9 2,511 1,950
Total non-current assets 16,753,620 18,925,639
Current assets
Short-term development properties 6 349,329 122,675
Trade receivables and others 10 4,740,877 4,033,325
Cash and cash equivalents 11 4,903,491 3,159,666
Total current assets 9,993,697 7,315,666
TOTAL ASSETS 26,747,317 26,241,305
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Non-current liabilities
Borrowing -long-term maturity portion 12 4,731,167 4,720,334
End of service indemnities 13 19,011 21,961
Total non-current liabilities 4,750,178 4,742,295
Current liabilities
Burrowings-short-term maturity portion 12 1,849,623 1,678,648
Trade payables and others 14 885,355 537,142
Zakat provision 15¢ 556,828 549,670
Total current liabilities 3,291,806 2,765,460
Total liabilities 8,041,984 7,507,755
Shareholders’ Equity
Share capital 16 10,800,000 10,800,000
Statutory reserve 1,109,601 1,058,720
Retained earnings 6,795,732 6,874,830
Total shareholders’ equity 18,705,333 18,733,550
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 26,747,317 26,241,305
r‘\/x ¥

Maww

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Chief Financial Officer



DAR AL ARKAN REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Notes 2018 2017
SR O00 SR 00D

Revenue 17 6,412,265 4,734,682
Cost of revenue 18 (5,355,114) (3,620,672)
GROSS PROFIT 1,057,151 1,114,010
Operating expenses:
General and administrative expenses 19 (168,942) (162,002)
OPERATING PROFIT 888,209 952,008
Finance costs 20 (511,652} (441,523)
Other income, net 129,866 36,722
Share of net profits from associates and joint
ventures 8a 15,432 20,604
PROFIT BEFORE ZAKAT 521,855 567,811
Zakat provisions 15b (13,046) (14,443)
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 508,809 553,368
Other comprehensive income:
Re-measurement gain on end of service
indemnities 2,974 2,675
Total comprehensive income for the year 511,783 556,043
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Dar Al Arkan shareholders 511,783 556,043
Earnings per share ( in Saudi Riyal )
Basic and diluted 21 Q.51

0.47 (b
T =
“ mﬂ;?),wj?

Chief Financial Officer

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolldated financial statements
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DAR AL ARKAN REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Statutory Retained
Share capital reserve earnings Total equity
SR 000 SRO00 SR 000 SR 000

2018
Balance as at 1 January 2018 10,800,000 1,058,720 6,874,830 18,733,550

Net profit for the year - - 508,809 508,809

Other comprehensive income - 2,974 2,974
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 511,783 511,783
Transfer to statutory reserve - 50,881 (50,881) -
Dividend - - (540,000) {540,000)
Balance as at 31 December 2018 10,800,000 1,109,601 6,795,732 18,705,333
2017
Balance as at 1 January 2017 10,800,000 1,003,383 6,374,124 18,177,507

Net profit for the year - - 553,368 553,368

Other comprehensive income - - 2,675 2,675
Total comprehensive income far the year - - 556,043 556,043
Transfer to statutory reserve - 55,337 {55,337) -
Balance as at 31 December 2017 10,800,000 1,058,720 18,733,550

Managing Director Chief Financial Officer

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
=y



DAR AL ARKAN REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
SAUDI JIOINT STOCK COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before Zakat

Adjustment for:

Depreciation

End of service indemnities

Finance costs

Share of net profit from associates and joint ventures
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital
Development properties, net

Trade receivables and others

Other assets

Trade payables and others

Cash from operations

Finance costs paid

Zakat paid

End-of-service indemnities paid

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment
Disposal of property and equipment
Investment Properties

MNET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividend

Long term borrowings
NET CASH USED IN /FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF THE YEARD

Non-cash transaction related to transfer of investment property (Note 5)

Transfer of investment properties to development properties

MaﬁEEi‘:g Director

2018 2017

SR 000 SR 000
521,855 567,811
78,355 76,775
4,122 5,129
511,652 441,523
(15,432) (20,604)
1,100,552 1,070,634
1,903,999 2,227,035
(707,552) (1,450,347)
(561) (1,122)
348,213 7,421
2,644,651 1,853,621
(474,207) (408,673)
(5,888) (2,267)
(4,098) (6,175)
2,160,458 1,436,506
(20,348) (10,130)
. 440
(648) -
(20,996) (9,690)
(540,000) -
144,363 1,150,762
(395,637) 1,150,762
1,743,825 2,577,578
3,159,666 582,088
4,903,491 3,159,666
1,527,350 62,889

e

Chief Financial Officer

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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DAR AL ARKAN REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
SAUDIJOINT STOCK COMPANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCHAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECENBER 2018

GENERAL INFORMATION

DAR AL ARKAN REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT COMPANY (the "Company”), i a Saudi Joint Stock Company
established under the Company Laws & Regulations of The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The Company is registered in
Rivadh under Commercial Registration No. 1010160195 dated 15/04/1421H, correspending to 18/07/2000 G. The
Company is domiciled in The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia {K.5.A.) and its registered office address is P.0O. Box No:
105633, Riyadh-11656, K.5.A.

The equity shares of the Company are listed with the security market of The Kingdom of Saudi Arabta.

The Company and its Subsidiaries are collectively called “the Group" and i3 predeminantly engaged in the
business of development, sale and leasing of real estate projects and associated activities. The Company manages
its activities through subsidiaries established for each line of business. These Subsidiaries pperate under theair own
commercial registration and are summarised below:

DAR AlL-ARKAMN PROPERTIES {REAL ESTATE} COMPANY — is a limited liability company, a wholly owned
subsidiary, registered in Rivadh under the Commercial Regisiration No. 1010254063, dated 25/7/1429 H
{carresponding to 28/7/2008 G). It operates in development and acquisition of commercial and residential real
estate. It provides management, operation and maintenance of residential and commercial buildings and public
facitities.

DAR AL-ARKAN PROIECTS COMPANY - is 2 limited lizbility company, a wholly owned subsidiary, company
registerad in Riyadh under the Commercial Registration No. 1010247583, dated 28/3/1425 H {corresponding to
5/4/2008 G), It operates in general construction of residential and commercial buildings {construction,
maintenance, demolition and restructuring).

DAR AL-ARKAN COMMERCIAL INVESTMENT COMPANY - is a limited liability company, a wholly owned
subsidiary, registered in Riyadh under the Commercial Registration No., 1010247585, dated 28/3/1428 H
{corresponding to 5/4/2008 G}, It operates In purchase and acquisition, [ease of reai estate investments.

DAR AL-ARKAN SUKUK COMPANY — is a imited liability company, a wholly owned subsidiary, reglstered in Rivadh
under the Commercial Registration No. 1010256421, dated 16/9/1429 H {corresponding to 16/9/2008 G). It
operates in Real Estate investrments and development.

SUKUK AL-ARKAN COMPANY ~ is a limited liability company, a wholly owned subsidiary, registered in Riyadh
under the Commercial Registration Mo, 1010274407, dated 11/106/1430 H {cerresponding to 01/10/2008 &). It
operates in development, maintenance and management of real estates, purchase of land and general
contracting.

THAWABIT INVESTMENT COMPANY— is & limited liability company, a wholly awned subsidiary, registered in
Riyadh under the Commercial Registration No, 1010275448, dated 30/10/1430 H {corresponding to 18/10/2008
G). It eperates in Real Estate investments and development.

DAR SUKLK INTERMNATIOMNAL COMPANY - is a limited liability company, formerly known as Sivada investrent
Company, 2 wholly owned subsidiary, registered in Riyadh under the Commercial Registration No, 1010275448,
dated 20/10/1430 H {corresponding to 16/10/2009 G}. It operates in Real Estate investments and development.

DAR AL-ARKAN REAL ES5TATE INVESTMENT COMPANY - is a limited liahility company [previously known as Dar Al
Arkan Proprty (AM) Company), a wholly owned subsidiary, registered in Rlyadh under the Commercial
Registration Mo. 1010521509, 22/6/1438 H {corresponding to 21/3/2017 G}. It operates in Real Estate
investments and developrients, leasing and property management,

-11-
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DAR AL ARKAM REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT CORMPANY
SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED)

2.

Dar Al-Arkan Rezl Estate Development Company whelly owns directly and indirectly the above mentioned
subsidiaries.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and the results of operations of
the subsidiaries menticned above.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolldated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Finangial
Reporling Standards (“IFRS”) endorsed by SOCPA and adopted in K54, consistent with the Group's accounting
policias,
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Saudi Rivals {SR), which is the Group’s functional
currency,

2.2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

Standards ond interpretations effective in the current period

In the current year, the Group has adopted all new Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting
interpretation Committee ("IFRICY) that are mandatory for adoption In the annual periads beginning on or after
1January 2018,

IFRS 15 clarification - Revenue from Contracts with Customers
1A% 19 Ameandment - Plan Amendment, Curtailrent or Settlement
IFRS 9 Amendrment - Amendments regarding prepeyment features with negative
compensation and moedifications of financial liabilities
IFRIC 22 clarification - Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
issuad.

The group also have early adopted few new standards and interpretations in issuance and are not mandatary for
adoptionincluding, IFR5 1, IFR5 9, IFRS 15, IFRS 16, 1AS 23 and 1A5 40 in the year ended 31 December 2017,

Generally; the adoption of these interpretations has not led to any changes in the Group’s accounting policies and
disclosures provided In the consolidated financial staternents.

Standards and interpretations in issue but nok yet adopted

The following standards, amendments and interpretations were in issue at the date of autherisation of these
financial stataments, but not yet effective, and therefore were not applicd in these consolidated fnancial
statements.

The impact of the adoption of these standards is currently being assessad; however, the directors anticipate that
the adoption of these standards, amendments and interpretations in future perieds will not have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

[FRS 3 & 11 Annual - Definition of a Business and Accounting for Previously Held
improvements Interests
IFRS 17 New standard - Insurance Contract
A5 1&7 Amendment - Dentitien of Material {new definition of material and the
accompanying explanatory paragraphs is included in 1451)

-17 -



DAR AL ARKAN REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
SAUGIIOINT STGCK COMPANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED}

A5 12 Amendment - clarify that all income tax consequences of dividands fi.e.
distribution of profits) should be recognised in profit or loss,
regardless of how the tax arises.

IFRIC 23 darifications - Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments. The interpretation is

10 be applied to the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax

e hases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when
: there is ungertainty over incame tax treatments under JAS 12,

‘ 1AS 19 Amendments - If a plan amendment, curtafiment ar settlement occurs, it s now

mandatory that the current service cost and the net interest for
: the period after the remeasurement are determined using the
i assumptions Used for the remeasurement.

I1AS 28 Amendment - Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures has been
- amended to clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 including its
P impairment reguirements, to long-term interests in an associate

or jolnt venture that form part of the net investment in the
associate or joint venture but to which the equity methad is not
applied.

2.3 ACCOUNTING CONVENTION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, as modified by the
. revaiiation of certain financial instruments at fair value and investment ip associates at equity methad. The
i gbligation of post- employment benefits is accounted for the present value of future obligation. The principal
accounting palicies are set out helow,

2.4 BASIS OF CONSOUDATION

The Sroup consclidates the financial statements of the Company and entities where the group has power over the
investees, itis exposad, or has rights, to variable return from its involvernents and has the ability to use its powar to
control and affect its return from the investees or subsidiaries, Tha censolidated financial statements of the Group
¢onsist of operations of the Company and entities controlled the Company or its Subsidiaries made up 1o 31
Cecember 2018.

o Subsidiaries

L Subsidiaries are entities that are controlled by tha Group. The Group controls an entity when, it is exposed, or has
rights, to varlable returns from its involvernent with the entity and has the ability to affact those returns through its

. power over that entity. Subsidiaries are fully consclidated from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective

L R date of disposal, as appropriate.

The purchase method of accountitg is used to account for the acguisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an
acauisition is measured as the falr value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or
assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributakble to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assurmed in a business combination are initially measured at fair value at the
acguisition date irrespective of the extent of any non-cantrofling interests. The interests of non-controlling
shareholders are stated at the non-controliing proportion of the fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised.
Subsequently, any losses applicable to the non-controlling Interests in excess of the non-controlling interests are
allocated against the interests of the parent,

L. The excess of cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of identifiable net assets acquired is
recognised as goodwill. Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the fair value of identifiable net assets
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acquired {i.e. discount on acquisitton) is recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or lass and
comprehensive income.,

All intra-group transactions, Balances, and unrealised gains on transactions hetween Group companies are eliminated
on capsglidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred.

Investments in associates and joint venture
An aszociate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence, but not controf arjoint
control, through participation in the finandial and operating policy decisions of the investee.

A Joint venture is a joint arvangement where the parties to the joint venture have rights to the net assets of the joint

arrangement and have contractually agreed sharing of joint contro] over the relevant activities through which the
.- parties to the arrangement can participate to the decision making of the relevant activities require unanimous
: conserts and jolnt control.

Equity methad

Under equity method of accounting, the investments in associates or a [oint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated financial position at cost and adjusted by the post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the profit
ar foss and other comprehensive income and the net assets of the associate or a joint venture, less any impairment in
r the value of individual investments. The rasults, assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated
: in these consolidated financial staternents using the equity method of accounting except when classified as held for
sale. Losses of the associates or a joint venture in excess of the Greup’s interests in those associates or joint venture
are recagnised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive ohligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in associates or a joint venture is accounted under equlty method of accounting from the date of
acquisition. Any excess of cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the fair values of identifiable net assets of the
associate or a joint venture at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goadwill is included within the
carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of that investment. Any deficiency of the
cost of acquisition below the Group's share of the fair values of identifiable net assets of the associate or a joint
: venture at the date of acquisition [i.e. discount on acquisition) is recognisad in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and comprehensive income.

When the investrnent in assoclatas or a jeint venture is classified as held for sale or ceases to be an associates or a
joint venture, from that date, the group discontinue the use of equity accounting. When a partial sale of an associate
or a joint venture which resuits In losing sigaificant influence over that assoctate or a ioint venture, the remalning
investment is measured at fair value on the date of sale and recognised as a financial asset, The differences between
the attributable shares of carrying amount for the retaining interest in that associate or a joint venture and its falr
value is included in the determination of gain ar loss of the disposal of the associates or a joint venture. In addition,
the Group reclassifies the gains or losses from equity, previously recogrised in the other comprehensive income to
the statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income,

Where a Group company transacts with an associate or 2 joint venture of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated
o the extent of the Group’s interests in the relevant associate or a joint venture. Losses may provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred in which case appropriate provision is made for impairment.

investment fn joint operation
! A joint operation is an arrangement where Group entities have joint contrcl of an arrangement and have legally
< - binding rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of the arrangement. A Jaint control is a legally agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement and all the relevant activities of the arrangament regulre unanimous consent of
the parties sharing controk.
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2.6

When the Group entity carry out its activities under joint operations, the Group recognises its interest under the joint
operation as follows:

- The asset belongs to the Group, incduding its share of any assets acquired and held jointhy;

-~ The Liabilities assaciated with the Group, including its share of any iahilities incurred jointly;

~  Group’s share of revenue arising from the joint operation;

= Group's expenses, including the share of expenses incurred jointly in the joint operations.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses asseciated with its interestin a joint operationin
accordance with IFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. When the Group entity is
a joint operator and the Group is invelved with a sale or asset contrikution to the jeint operation, the profit and [ossas
resulting from such transitions are racognised in the Groups consclidated financial statement only to the estent of
other parties’ share in the joint operation. When the Group entity is a joint aperator and the Group is involved with a
purchase transaction with the joint operation, the Group does not recoghise the share of its gain or foss until such
assets are resold to a third party.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment loss.

Cost includes all divectly attributable expenses incurred in bringing the property and equipment to their present
lacation, condition until the property and equipment is available for use. The management periodically review
and reassess the estimated future useful life and residual value and accordingly may change or modify the
depreciation rates.

Depreciation is charged so as 1o write off the cost less estimated residual value of assets, other than land, over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following rates:

Buildings 3%
Leasehald improvements 5% - 20%
Vehicdes 25%
Machinery and tools 2%
Office egquipment 20% - 25%

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined a¢ the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in consolidated profit or [oss.

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying arounts of 1ts tangible assets to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment [oss. Where the asset does
not generate cash fiows that are independsnt from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs, If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amaunt, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverzble amaunt. An impairment
loss is recognised in consolidated profit or [oss immediately. .

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

nvestment properties principally comprise completad projects {including properties and developed land held for
long term capital appreciation) and projects under development {including property prejects under construction,
tand projects under development and land waiting for development). investment properties are hald to earn
rentais and/or for capital appreciation or both, rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business or for use in
production or administrative function. Projects under develnpment include those properties in progress of
development or waiting for development te commenca. These properties are not used for generating sales
revenues through normal business operations. The Investment properties are initially recognised at cost and the
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2.7

2.8

cost of an acquisition is measured at fair value of the assets acquired / transferred, All developments costs
(design, development and staff cost} that are directly attributable to the acquisition/ development of the
properties are capitalized to derive the total cost.

&n investment property is derecegnised en sale or disposal when permanently withdrawn ar transferred to
development propertias. &ny gain or loss arising from darecognition of the property is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss immediately,

Investment properties are held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, are stated at cost 1ass acoumulated
depreciztion and any recognised impairment loss. Depreciation is charged 50 as to write off the cost less estimated
residual value of assets, cther than land and properties under construction, over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method, on the following hasis:

8uildings %

Gains or losses arising from the retirerent or disposai of investment properties keing the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and carrying value are included in the consolidated profit or loss for the year of the
retirement/disposal except those that relate to sale and leaseback arrangements.

BEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

All development properfies are initially measured at aceuisition cost and subsequently measured and accounted
for lower of cost and net realisable value, This principally censists of projects under prograss and land parcels
under development for sales in the ordinary course of business, rather than to be held for rentai ar capital
appreciation, Cost comprises all directly attributable cest including direct material cost, direct labour costs,
borrowing costs and those overheads that have been incurred in Bringing the development properties to their
prasent location and condition. Costis caleulated using the average method, Impairment is tested comparing with
net realisable value, which represents the estimated selling price less zll estimated costs to completion and salling
casts to be incurrad,

The operating cycle of development properties is such that the majority of development properties are held for
langer period and will not be realised within 12 months. If there is a change in management intention and
identify any development property for immediate sale, then the same is split between long-term and short-term
development properties reprasenting non-current and current portion of development properties respectively.

At sach reporting date management categorises development properties projects s long term or short term
depending on its estimated completion date, If the completion date of a project is expected to be within a year
from the date of the consolidated statement of financial position, the project is classified as short term
development praperties

IMPAIRMVIENT OF TANGIBLE ASSETS

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounis of its tangible assets for any indication that those
assets have suffered impairment losses, When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs, When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the srnallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasanable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. When such an indication
axists, the recoverable amount of the assetis estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss,
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to seli and value In use. [n assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific o the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not heen adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its
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carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoversble amount. An impairment loss is
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss.

ISLAMIC EORROWING CQSTS

Islamic borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for thelr intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale, All other borrowing costs are recognised as finance costs in the cansolidated profit or loss in tha period in
which they are incurred.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group's consolidated statement of financial position
when the Group has hecome a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument,

Classification and measurement - financial assets
Classification and measurement of financial assets are based on the underlying husiness model and
estimated cash flows on the basis of the entity's business mode! for managing the financial assets and the
centractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Any derivatives embedded in the contracts ars
not separated and is considered as a whole for classification. The financial assets are principally categorised
as under;

- Measured at amaortised cost

- Fair value through other comprehensive income{FYTOC)

- Fair value through profit or loss (FYTPL)
financial assets that are initially recognised at fair value are suhsequently measured at amortised cost
based on expected credit loss (ECL) described below:

- 12-month expected credit losses- expected credit losses that result from those default events on the

financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
- Lifetime expected credit losses- expected credit losses that result fraom all possible default events over
the life of the financial instrument.

(n relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss modet as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under [AS 38. The expected credit foss model requires the Group to
account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected eradit losses at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial assets. In athar words, it is no longer
necessary for a credit event to have occurred befare credit {osses are recognised.

specifically, IFRS 9 requires the Group ta recognise a lass allowance for expected credit {osses on:
- Debt investments measured subsequently at amertised cost or at FVTOL;
- Lease recejvabies;
- Trade receivables and contract assets; end
- Financial guarantee contracts to which the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 apply.

A loss allowance for full lifetime expected credit losses is required for & financial instrument if the credit
risk of that financial instrument has increased significantly since initia] recognition, as well as to contract
assets or trade receivables that do not constitute a financing transaction in accordance with IFRS 15,

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are classified as loans and receivables and are initfally recognised at fair value. They are
subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any provision
for Impairment. The Company assesses receivables that are individually significant and receivables included
in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics for impairment, This assessment of
trpairment requires judgment. In making this judgment, the Company evaluates credit risk characteristics
that consider past-due status and other loss event factors being indicative of the ahility to pay all amounts
due as per contractual terms. A provision for impairment is made where there is an objective evidence,
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including customers with finangial difficulties or in default on payments, that amounts will not be recovered
in accordancs with original terms of the agreement and the carrying value of the receivable exceeds the
present value of the future cash flow discounted using the original effective interest rate. The carrying value
of the receivable is reduced with the provisien account and any impairment 053 i5 recoghised in the
consolidated profit or loss.

£ash and cash equivatents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and at bank and ether short-term deposits held by the
Group with original maturities of three months or less.

Held for trading investments

Held for trading investments are recognised inftially at fair value; transaction costs are faken directly to the
consolidated statement of income and thereafter stated at fair value by reference to exchange guoted
market bid prices at the close of business on the  consalidated balance sheet date, The unrealized and
realized gains and losses from sale of held for trading investments are recorded in the consolidated
statement of income.

Financial liabilities

Financial Tiabilities include Islamic Sukuk and Istamic Murabaha and are classified actording to the substance of
the respective contractual arrangement and are initially measured at their fair value, net of transaction costs,
Financial liabilities are subsequently carvied at their amartised cost, with commissian cost being recognised on an
effective vield basis in the consolidated statement of profit ¢r loss over the term of the instrument.

Trade payzshles
Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate mathod.

Islamic variable financial instruments

The Group designates certain hadging instruments, which include [slamic variable financial instruments in respect
of fareign currency risk, as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments in fareign
operations, Hedges of foreign exchange rizk on firm commitrments are accounted for as & cash flow hedges.

The Groug initially recognises Islamic variable financial instruments as either a financial asset or a financial
liability, at fair value, and subsequently re-measured to their fair value under [FRS 9 a1 the end of each reporting
pericd. The accounting for changsas in the fair value of an [slamic variable financial instrument depends on the
intended use and the resuiting designation of the Istamic variable finzncial instrument. The resulting gain or loss iz
recognisad Tn the consolidated statement of profit or toss immediately, unless the Islamic varizble financial
instrurnent is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in
profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

For an lslamic variable financial instrument designated as a fair value hedge, the gain or [0ss 15 recognised in the
consolidated staterent of profit or loss in the period of change together with the offsetting loss or gain on the
hedged item attributed to the risk being hedged. Hedge accounting is discontinuad when the Group revokes the
hedging relationship, when the hedging instrument expires or is seld, terminated, or exercised, or when it no
longer qualifies for hedge accounting. The fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hadged item
arising from the hedged risk is amortised to profit or loss from that date.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue represents the sale of properties, ravenue from contract with customers and rental activities.

Sale of Properties
Properties developed znd sold on completion or as is are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
economic benefits will flow to the Group and significant risks and rewards of awnership have been transferred to
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the buyer, which is assessed to be at the time of legal comgletion of the sale or uncondifionat exchange. Revenue
is measured at the fair value of consideration received,

Contract with customer

Praperties developed and sold under a construction contract or agreement wherein the asset being created has
no other alternative use and the Company had enfarceable right to payment for the performance campleted to
date where the objective and the cutcome of such contracts can be estimated reliably, the revenue and cost of
such developments are recognised in proportion to the performed/measured stages of completion against the
total contractual obligations/miles stanes including variation, claims and incantives at the end of each reporting
period, except where the performed work are not a representative of the stage of completion.

Where the outcome of the contract cannot be estimated reliably, the contract revenue is recognised to the extent
of cost incurred and probability recoverable against such contract, All the cost incurred 15 recognised as expenses
in the peried in which it s incurred,

The Company will recognise all the incremantal costs of obtaining or performing a contract as assets If it expects
to recover those costs from the transaction price. The incremental costs are those costs that the Company would
not have incurred if the contract had not been cbtained. all cosis to fulfil its obligations under an existing
centract, or an anticipated contract, are capitalised in accordance with IFRS 15 if the costs:

- directly relates to such specific contract;

- are expected to be recovered.

- Create, enhance or generate the resources of the company which will be used in performing the current or

future performance obligations

Afl asset recognised in relation to contract costs is systematically amortised on a basis consistent with the pattern
or proportion of transfer of the obligation under the contract to which the asset relates.

If the pverall amartisation period of such expenses is one year or less the Company may expense such cost when
incurred.

The Company will follow an impairment test to assess the carrying value of such assets and when it is probable
that the total contract cost will exceed total contract revenue, the estimated loss is recognised as expenses
immeadiately

Leases

With respect to lease rental income, the Group recognises revenue on 3 straight line basis over the leasa term,

ZAKAT

Zakat is caloulated pursuant to Zakat Regulation in the Kingdom of Saudi Arsbia and recognised in the respective
subsidiaries or in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in each year, The provision is based on an estimate
of Zakat that is adjusted in the financial period in which the final assessment of Zakat is issued by the General
Authority of Zakat and Tax {"GAZT"}. Any change in the estimate resulting from the final assessment is recognised
In that period.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Transactions in currencies other than Saudi Rivals, the presentational and functional currency of each subsidiary
within the Group, are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the reporting
date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
atthat date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities carnied at fair value, that are denominated in fereign currencies, ara
translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historizal cost in a foreign currancy are not retranslated. The resuiting exchange gains or losses
are recognised in the consolidated statement of prefit or lass and comprehensive income.
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- 2.15

2.16
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2.18

STATUTORY RESERVE

According to the article (129} of the Companies’ Regulation [Amendment 2016), the Group is requived to retain
10% of net income in the statutory reserve. The Group may stop the transfers when this reserve reaches 30% of
the share capital. This reserve is not availzble for dividend distribution.

END OF SERVICE INDEMMNITIES

The Group provides and of service benefits to its employees in accordance with the labour law provisians of Saudi
Arabia, The entitlement to these indemnities is based upon the employee's final salary, length of service and the
completion of a minimum service period. The costs of these indemnities are accrued over the period of
employment, based on the estimated ultimate payment.

Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, are recognized immediately in the statement of
financial position with a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through other comprehensive income,
in the periad in which they occur. Re-measuremeants are not reclassiftzd to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

The Group makes cantributions in ling with the General Qrganisation for Social Insurance Regulations and are
calculated as a percentage of employees’ wages., Payments made (o state-managed retirement benefit schemes are
dealt with as payments to defined cantribution plans whare the Group's obligations under the schemes are
equivaient to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan. Payments made to defined contribution
retirement bettefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due,

Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of past events, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that
can be estimated reliably, and it Is probable that an outflow af economic benefit will be required to settle the
obligation.

LEASING

Group as a lessor

Rentals receivable under operating leases are recognised to the consolidated profit or foss on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease.

Group as a lessee

At the inception of non-cancellable operating leases an asset identified as “right-of-use assets” measured at cost
with appropriate discounting applied on relevant components of jease term and payment obligations including
initial direct coct, lease escalations and lease incentives mentioned in the underlying lease agreement
Subsequent to the initial measurament and recognition, the “right-of-use assets” are periodically measured by
using cost mode! which cormprisas initially measured cost and any re-measurement adjustments less accurulated
depreciation,

Corresponding to this commencement date a “lease liability” is measured at the net presant value of all the
unpald lease payments as on that date discounted at an appropriate rate. Subseguent to the initial
measuremeants “ease liability” are periodically measured by increasing the carrying cost io reflect the interest
charge on unpaid future lease liability and any re-measurement adjustrment less lease payments made up to that
date.
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P An appropriate rate of depreciation and profit rate is applied on “right- of-use assets” and "lease liability”
respectively. Such depreciation and interest is charged to the consolidated profit or loss as depreciation snd
finance charges.

In case of existing, short term, small vaiue and cancellzble operating leases, the entity continues o charge the
- periodic lease payments to the consolidated profit or Ioss a5 an expense on straight-line basis over the term of
' the relevant lease.

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience, internal controls,
advice from external experts and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the tircumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assurnptions concerning the future. The rasulting accounting judgments will, hy
- definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
: cavsing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and lrabilities within the next financial periods
are discussed below:

i Revenue Recagnition
' The Group recognises revenue on sale of its properties when significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer
to the buyer, which is azsessed to be at the time of legal completion of the sale ar unconditional exchange.

with respect to land properties/projects, the Group receives an initial non-refundahle depasit upon signing the
i sale contract with the batance being paid on a deferred basis, which typicaily does not exceed three months. The
Group racognises the full amount of the consideration at the time the sale contract is signed.

With respect to residential and commerclal projects, The Group typically reaceives an initial deposit on the
signature of the sales contract and the balance is coliected over a period as per the terms of the contract,
Revenue from the sale of these properties is only recognized when the sales and purchase agreement is signed
and the completed property is delivered to the purchaser,

With respect to residential and commercial projects sold under a construction contract or agreement and the
objective and the outcome of such contracts can be estimated reliably, the revenue and cost of such
developments are recognised as per under IFRS 15 in proportion to the performed/measured stages of
completion against the total contractual obligations/milestones including variation, claims and incentives at the
end of each reporiing period, except whare the performed work are not a representative of the stage of
campletion.

A performance obligatian is considered satisfied over the time when at least ane of the following criteria is met;
- The customer receives and consumes the benefits of the Companies’ performance as It perfarms.
- The performance craates and enhances the value of the customer-controlled asset.
- The Company has no alternative use to the asset being creatad and has the jegally enforceable right to
payment for all obligations performed or completed to date,

With respact to |ease rental income, the Group recognises revenue on a straight fine basis over the lease term in
accardance with IFRS 16,

: Recognition of cost of sales

L. The Group has developments which typically centain a number of individual projects within each
development. In order to determine cost of sales related to properties or units sold during the year the
manzgement estimates and average the costs of the entire developments, including infrastructure costs and
overall construction and ather directly attributable costs to arrive the tatal estimated cost of the project. These
estimated costs are sllocated to each project within the development and each unit within a praject, These
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estimates are reviewed regularly on a profit per project basis and revised as necessary, Any significant change in
these estimates may result in additional costs belng recorded in future periads related to revenue recognised in a
prior period.

Measuremeant of contract assets and trade receivableas

The group management makes significant assumptions on the estimation of expected credit loss (ECL) in
connaction with contract assets and/or trade receivables which is assessed based on the terms of contract
and evaluation is made where there iz objective evidence, including customers with financial difficulties or
in default an payments, possibilities of bankruptcy of the customer that amounts will nat be recovered in
accordance with original terms of the apreement. Bazed on such periodic assessment the Company

i, recognise for full lifetime expected losses for all contract assets and/or all trade receivables with or without

significant financing transaction and for lease recelvablas, For all other financizl instruments, expected

. credit losses are measured at an amount agual to the 12-month expetted credit losses In accordance with
' IFRS 5.

Classification of properties
; The Group's properties are classified as either investment properties or develapment properties. Management
. has made various judgments to determine whether a property qualifies as an investment property which is held
to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation or both, These are not used for generating sales revenues through
[ normal business aperations. A development property comprises completed properties, developed land, property
projects under construction, land projects under development and land awaiting developmant predominantly
identifiad for sale in the ordinary course of business. In making its judgment, managemeant considers its intended
;- use of property. When management assess that certaln investment properties will be disposed as part of normal
D business operation, their carrying cost will be transferred to development properties for final completion of
develogment and transfer.

- Subsequent transfar of Investment Properties
- Investment properties are the interests in land and/or buildings that are held for their investment potential and
not for sale in the ordinary course of busingss. Management assesses the intended use of its real estate
e praperties an continuous basis and summarises the portfolio at every reporting period. When the periodic
: management assessment identifies any change in the use of a praperty previously classified as investment
properties, their carrying cost is transferred to development properties for further development and final transfer
under ordinary course of business. While re-assessing the intended use, management considers the holding
D period, possibility of further appreciations, related economic activities around such properties and need for
L further development to make the property ready for sale,

Transfers are made to investment property when, and enly when, there is a change in Use, evidenced by the end
of awner occupaticn or commencement of an operating lease. Transfers are made from Investment proparty
when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of owner occupation or
' commencement of development with the intent to sale.

L. Carrying value of development properties
The Group’s principal activity is currently the development and sale of land, residential and commerdial property,
Due to the nature of this activity, much of the development is specuiative in nature. Accordingly, the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 December 2018 reflects current assets that are not covered by forward sales
contracts.

The Group assesses the net realisable value of Its development properties at each reporting date. This
assessment i3 based on a profit per project basis and compares the carrying and estimated future costs to
complete with the expected selling price per unit based on historical activities and available comparables in the
surrounding location, As a result of this process, there have been noinstances where the estimated net realisable
yalue of the sitefunit was less than its current carrying value within the consolidated statement of financial
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MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECERMBER 2018 {CONTINUED)

position, A change of these estimates in the future could have an impact on the valuation of the development
propertias.

Fair value measurements

[ - Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
: transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation techninue,

ro While estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability the group take into consideration of the assumptions that
: market participants would use when pricing the asset or llabllity for their best economicinterest,

Fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes inte account 2 market participant's ability to generate
T economic benefits from the best use or by selling it to another market participant for the best use,

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant cbservable inputs and minimizing the use of
unchsarvable inputs,

i For the financial reporting purpose, The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the
fair value of assets and liabilities;

- Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for the same instrument(i.e., without medification or additions});

- Level 2; Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities or other valuation technigues for
which all significant inputs are based on chservable market data and

- Level 3; Valuatlon technigues for which any significant input s not based on observable market data.

- For the determination of the fair value of the properties, valvations are arrived internaily by using group
management’s subjective expertise and Jocation knowledge together with comparable transactions recorded in
the surrounding area for non-refated arms lengths transactions. The group alse engage third party ihdependent

, real estate valuation experts using recognised valuation methods to value the properties wherever it is possible

C and practical. The fair value arrived using these methadologies disclosed as a percentage (%) of net-margin over
the carrying cost.

The group alsc estimates the fair value of its investment properties and development properties by using the
interna) Rate of Return and Income Capitalisation Mathod.

£ Under IRR method the group estimates future cash flows from assets considering future revenues streams,

: davelopment costs and al! directly attributable cost including financing cost, market risk and targeted profit.
These assumptions and estimates are reviewed periodically based on the market conditiens existing at the end of
every reporting period, to arrive a targeted IRR.

Under capitalisation method the income receivable under existing lease agresments are extrapolated to arrive at
projected future rental revenues, which is capitalised at appropriate rates reflecting the investment market
conditions at the valuation dates.

The proups future rental strear estimations are based on certain assumptions and are subject to market
volatility, uncertainty and can materially differ from the actual results, The absence of well-developed and active
market condition brings greater degree of uncertainty and volatility to estimated fair valuation of investment
properties than which exists in a more active market,
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Below are the key assumptions the group used to estimate faic value of its investments assets:

2018 2017

. Range Rahge
Profit margin on carrying cost ~davelopment properties 20% - 25% 33%-37%
Targeted IRR —development proparties 4-6% 5-7%
Estimated Capitalisation of yields- investment properties 6-8% 5-7%

4 REPORTING SEGMENTS

Management has arganised the Group into three segments for the purpose of reporting to the chief operating
decision maker. Management develops its strategic planning and business rmodel around these segments that
consist of:

= Development Properties — the development of basic infrastructure on undeveloped land ("Land
Projects”) and the development of residential and commercial prajects and the sale of units en such
prajects ("Residential and Commergial Projects™).

o |Investments — strategic investrment in companies that management believes are complementary to the
Group’s real estate development operations.

o Asset Management — leasing and management of properties that the Group has retained as rental
properties including commercial 2nd residential units on it Master-Planned Communities for generating
reCUrTINg revenues,

The Greup does not allocate share of profits of assaciates, general administration, selfing and marketing costs
including directors’ salaries, finance costs, other income and Zakat expense to its segments. Substantially all of
segment operafing activity {including revenue and costs) for the year ended 31 Decernber 2018 and 31 December
2017 was generated from the developed properties segment. The Group provided breakdown of revenue, profit,
assets and liabilities by operation segment. The accounting policies of the cperating segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 2,

The Group operates exclusively in Saudi Arabia and all its revenues are derived from its portfolio of properties
which the Group manages.
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NOTES ¥O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED)

The segment wise reverue, gross margin, operating expenses, prefif, assets and liabilities from sales of
development properties {land, residential and commercial projects} and leasing of properties are presented

below:
Motas For the year ended 31 December 2018
Sale of Developed Leasing of Group Total
Praperties Propertias
SEGMENT WISE PROFIT & LOSS SR 000 SR 000 SR Q00
i Revenue 6,276,487 135,778 6,412,265
Cost of revenue {5,284,947) {70,157) (5,355,114)
GROSS PROFIT 991,540 65,611 1,057,151
Operating expansas:
General and administrative expenses io [168,942)
OPERATING PROFIT 888,209
gm. Finance costs 20 {511,652)
L - Other income, net 129,866
Share of net profit from agsociates and
T jaint ventures 83 15,432
, SEGMENT PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 521,855
A SEGMENT WISE ASSETS & LIBILITIES
- TOTAL ASSETS 23,197,571 3,548,746 26,747,317
! TOTAL LIABILITIES 7,877,247 64,737 8,041,934
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SEGMENT WISE PROFIT & LOS5
Revenue

Costofsales
GROSS PROFIT

Qperating expenses;
General and administrative expenses

OPERATING PROFIT
Finance costs
Other income, net

Share of net profit from associates and
joint ventures

SEGMENT PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
SEGMENT WISE ASSETS & LIBILITIES
TOTAL ASSETS

TGTAL LIABILITIES

Motes For the year ended 31 December 2617
Sale of Developed Leasing of Group Total
Properties PFroperties
SR OO0 SR 000 SR 000

4,584,819 149,863 4,734,682
{3,548,7593) {71,879) (3,620,672)
1,036,026 77,984 1,114,010
19 (162,002)
852,008
20 [841,523)
36,722
&a 20,604
567,811
22,877,174 3,264,131 26,241,305
7,445,199 62,556 7,507,755
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5. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, NET

The movement in investment properties is as follows:

re 2018 2017
SR 000 SR 000
COST
r At beginning of the vear 3,637,179 3,714,178
: Transfer to development properties {1,672,536) (76,999)
Additions 648 -
! At end of the year 1,865,291 3,637,179
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
i At beginning of the year 347,169 289,400
Ea Transfer to development properties {145,188) {14,110)
Charged dutlng the year 70,167 71,879
At end of the year 272,150 247,169
- CARRYING AMOUNT AT THE END OF THE YEAR 1,693,141 3,290,010

million).

Fair value estimation:

Included within investment properties is land with an originat cost of SR 470 million (31 December 2017: 5K 578.1

Fair vafue of the invesiment properties is estimated by a recoganised valuation agency {ValuStrat Saudi Arabia} by

using income capitalisation method, the range of capitalisation rates are determined based on the nature and the
designated use of the assets and various external references for similar type of assets. The annualised lease cash

flows are estimated by extrapolating and adjusting current lease revenues for optimal occupancy and capitalising 1t
- - at an annual rent vield of 6-8% between residential and commercial leased properties to arrive the fair value

estimatad as below:

2018 2017
SRO0D SR OG0
3
COST 1,693,141 2,290,010
. ) ESTIMATED FAIR VALUE
Estimated on rent vield of 56-8 % on
Investment properties 1,927,484 3,313,183

The fair valuation of investment properties is categorised under Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy
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&, DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

The movement in development properties, the principle operation of the Company, are summarised as follows:

COos5T

At beginning of the year

Additions during the year

Transfer, net

Charged to cost of sales during the year

CARRYING AMOUNT AT THE END OF THE
YEAR

Short- term development properties

Leng-term devefopment properties

CosT

At beginning of the year
Additions during the year
Transfer

Charged to cost of sales
during the year

CARRYING AMOUNT AT THE END} OF THE
YEAR

Short- term development properties

Long-term development properties

Year ended 31 December 2018

Shart-term Short-term Projects Total
Developed Developed Developed under
Projects and land/Project Developments
SR OGO SR D00 SR 000 SR 000 SR 000
49,227 73,448 775,030 13,976,535 14,874,240
1,278 . 20,070 3,359,600 3,380,948
6,497 233,408 1,934,132 (652,687) 1,527,350
(20,529) - {775,030) (4,489,388)  (5,284,947)
36,473 312,856 1,954,202 12,194,080 14,497,591
349,329
14,148,262
Year endad 31 December 2017
Short-term Short-term Projects Total
Developed Developed  Developed under
Projects land land Developments
SR 000 SRO00 SR 000 SR 00C s 000
- 317,325 1,581,442 15,139,618 17,038,286
692 5432 16,648 1,298,386 1,321,758
62,889 - - - 62,889
{14,354) {249,309 (323,060} (2,462,070} (3,548,793}
40,227 73,448 775,030 15,976,535 14,874,240
122,675
14,751,565

Projects under development includes land worth SR 8.6 billion (31 December 2017: 5R 6.63 hillion), which

represents the Group's share of co-ownership with third parties according to the cantracts of land development.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 the Group has capitalised Islamic borrowing costs amounting to SR nil
(31 December 2017: nil}) on qualifying assets. Islamic borrowing costs were capitalised at an annual weighted
average capitalisation effective rate of 0% (31 December 2017: 0%).
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MOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Fair value estimation:

Durttg the year the Group’s management and directors conducted an internal review and valuation of the real
estate portfolio of development properties which resulted in & fair value indlcating an average uplift of 20% (31
December 2017: 35%) across the development property portfolio. The management believes that the resultant
uplift on the book value is a conservative indication of the fair value of the properties of the Group.

in view of the continuing volatility and uncertainty in the real estate market the transaction velumes are showing
considerable stabilisation on lowering price trend. Hence to normalise the fair value assumptions along with
[ known comparable transaction at arms-length around propertias, the management included additional valuation
; methodologies and measures of average IRR in the range of 4-0% for development properties to arrive at the fair
- - value estimate,

r Year ended 31 December 2018
L Short-term Short-term Projects under Total
Developed Developed Developed Developments
[ Praject land land/Projects
SR 000 SR 000 SR 000 SR 000 SR 000
COST 36,473 312,856 1,954,202 12,194,060 14,497,591
i ESTIMATED FAIR VALUE
Estimated @ 20% margins
. on ¢ost — Land 37,000 375,000 2,344,060 14,630,000 17,335,000
e Estimated @ 4-6 % IRR — Land 37,000 313,000 1,954,000 15,218,000 18,122,000
Average fair vafue on land 37,000 344,000 2,149,000 15,222,000 17,754,000
Estimated fair value 37,000 340,000 2,140,000 15,200,000 17,717,000
o Year anded 31 December 2017
. Short- Projacts Total
i term Short-term under
.- Developed Developed Developed Developments
Project land land
- SRO00 SR QoD SR Q00 SR OG0 3R 000
COST 49,227 73,448 775,030 13,976,535 14,874,240
ESTIMATED FAIR VALUE
- Estimated @ 35% matgins
L on cost — Land 50,000 99,000 1,046,000 18,868,00¢ 20,063,000
Estimated @ 5-7 % IRR = Land 50,000 151,000 1,390,000 21,628,000 23,215,000
Average fair value on land 50,000 125,000 1,218,000 20,248,000 21,641,000
[ —
Estimated fair value 50,000 125,000 1,210,000 20,240,300 21,625,000

Sensitivity in fair value estimation:

The estimated fair value of Group's investment properties and development properties can be impacted by the
occurrence of interrelated unchservable inputs determined by existing market conditlons. The impact of two
unobservable inputs may not be off-setting each other; for example, an tncrease in capitalisation rate may off- set
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an increase in annual rent but an increase in annual rent with a decrease in capitalisation rate would boost the

fair value.
. Increase Decrease
SROCO SR 0Q0

! Change in fair value on land

10% change in comparable margins 1,417,000 {1,417,0004

1% changein IRR 029,000 (824,000}
[
Average change in fair value on land 1,273,000 {1,121,000)
P Change in fair value on Properties

50 basis points chapge in capitalisation rate 32,000 {32,000)
- Sensitivity impact on estimated fair value 1,205,000 {1,153.000)
Lo The falr valuation of investment properties are categerised under Level 3 inthe fair value hierarchy

.30 -



|ﬁml

o8y BEO'L 8¢ 4 61T 06609

QLLULTT IOt NES €T Srp'g rzo'a CST'8Y

{620°cT) {8) - - {Te0'eT) .

€L6'E 976 L - 2 9TO'E

PESOTT S0L'0% L05ET SYbg LE0'6T BET'SP

8TZ'98T zi9°8y TIZ'El irv's £yT°9 SYTG0T

{6T0’ct) {8 - - {tZo'eT) -

TS0°L 229’0 Z0f - LIT -

961'Z6T 280°TY GOS'ET 418 LEQ'6T 551607

000 ¥s OGO HS QDD S 000 HS Qo0 ys [HilVE:]3
je10) wawdinba 5|00] puE EETRITEYY [UEDTEL L (L s3uping
UHO Adaungpey p|oYasEad] puz2 pue

T68°08 vLT'TT ISH'E 15 9EEZ 8pz'c9

0LTYIT | e 26101 156 6£9'G 06Z'15

{zzs) - - {zzs) - -

10’2 BR5'T 739 ¥T 5I9 SET'S

BLLITT PIOIE DES'ET SHY'E PL0'e SSTRY

T9r'a0r 9BE'5S LT 2108 Si5°6 SESYET

zzs) ~ - {2zs) - -

S9+'5T +IL'9 EES'E €6 TED'E EHE'S

grzagr TE9'BY TISET Lt'8 b1 Sy1760T

00 4s ago Hs oDDHS 0G0 YS 000895 Q00 HS
jeo] wswdinbe S0} pue EETTET, JUCTREY NG LT sTuIp|
IDIUO Asuyoe g p|oyzseal pue puEf

LT07 9393030 TE LY LNNONY DNIAYYYD

£107 43gqwasaq TE 38 soue[eg
Jajsuel),
aead 3y} 10} uoilerardsg

LT0T denuer T 1e sougeg

NOILY123Hd30 QILYINNNIOY

L1002 raquuadad TE e 2ueleg
Ja)sUBL]

JEdA Ol LOg SUDIIpPY

2107 faenuey T 1B 33ueey

1502

£T0C 930INTRIT TE

KT0Z ¥38IN333a T£ 1V INACINY DNIAYHTYY

STOL 19GLu202Q T§ Ie asueey
BTN ITY
JeaA 3y} a0y uoeudag

8107 Aenuef 12 adueeq

NOLLY 234430 QILYINNNIDY

4T0T 1aquwadsq TE 1e a3ueey
EET LT

123k ayg 10y SUCIUpPY

RIOT AENUET T 12 30UE|RG

1500

STOC ¥3aW303A TE

12N ENIALINDT QNY ALY3404d

(TINNIINGD) 8T0E 4383334 TE 0IANT YYIA IHL HOd
SINIWILVLS WWIDNYNIY O3 LVAINOSNGD 3HL OLS3L0N

ANVEINOD 12015 LNIODIAnes
ANVEWOD LNINDOTIATA JEVLST T¥IE NYHHY 1V dvd

1

[ PR L R —



DAR AL ARKAN REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
SAUDLIQINT STOCK COMPANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 33 DECEMBER 2018 (CONTINUED

8 INVESTMENTS IN ASS0OCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE

mvestments in associates and joint venture represent investments in shares of companies, whera the Group
exercises significant influence. The shares of these companies are not publicly traded. The Group’s ownership
in these Saudi Arabia based privately owned companies ranges from 15% to 51%. For entities where the
Tnvestment is less than 20%, management believes that it is abla to exert significant influence due to its
involvement at board level. Movement in investments in asseciates and joint ventures is as follows:

a. [Investments in associates and joint ventures:

2018 2017
SRODD SR 000

Investments, beginning of year 814,188 790,585
P Additions - -
L Share of profit during the year 15,432 20,604
. investrents, end of year 826,621 811,189
T b, Summarised details of hotding in respect of the Group’s associates and joint venture is set out helow:
- Name of the entity Amount
" invested % of Holding
o SR 000

Szudi Home Loans (SHL) 150,000 15%
e Alkhair Capital Saudi Arabia (ACS) 102,000 34%
Khozam Real Estate Development Company (i} {KDC) 525,547 51%

Juman company 1,500 18%
- Accumulated share of profits 47,574
ZL Balance, end of the year 826,621
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£, Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates and joint venture is set out

below:
31 DECEMIBER 2018 Juman KDC ACS SHL TOTAL
' SR OO0 SR 0DC SR 000 SR GO0 SR 000
Total assets - 541,481 303,915 4,375,822 5,221,218
oo Total llabilities - {3€,504) {18,320) {2,905,951} {2,960,775)
;o Met assets - 504,977 285,585 1,469,871 2,260,443
o Group's share of net assets 1,500 507,538 97,102 220,481 226,621
Total revenue for the year - - 76,113 171,294 247,407
- Tetal profit for the year . {159) 25,084 67,700 93,525
P Total cumulative earning at end of
‘o the year - {35,769) {14,405) 469,870 419,696
. Total cumulative earning at end of
o last year - {35,610) {44,356) 434,340 354,374
b Change for the year - {159) 29,951 35,530 65,322
. Group’s share of cumulative profit
v for the vear - {81} 10,183 5,330 15,432
P 31 DECEMBER 2017 Juman KDC ACS SHL TOTAL
SR OGO SRO00 SR 000 3R 070 SR OO
r . Total assets - 541,328 237,876 4,285,906 5,115,610
‘ Total liabilities - {36,693 {32,232) (2,851,565) (2,920,490)
Net assets - 505,135 255,644 1,434,341 2,185,120
Group’s share of net assets 1,500 507,619 86,0159 215,151 g11,185
e Total revenue for the year - - 59,535 156,155 215,730
L Tatal prafit for the year - {2,820) 22,369 91,486 111,035
Total cumulative earning at end of
theyear - (35,610} (44,356} 634,340 554,374
. Total cumulative earning at end of )
last year {32,332) {63,009) 541,715 440,374
Change far the year - (3,278} 24,653 92,625 114,000
. Group's share of cumulative profit i
t for the year (1,672) g,382 13,894 20,604

Details of transactions with assaciates and joint ventures are disclosed undar note 23 “Related Party
Transactions” of these consolidated flnancial statements.

{i) The Group had originaliy invested SAR 120 million representing 15% of the paid up share capital of
Saudi Home Loans (3HL) and during 2017 the SHL increased the patd up share capital by issuing 20
million shares of SR 10 sach to its existing shareholders in the same propaortion of their shareholding
by transferring an equal amount from its retained earnings {by capitalising profit). This increase in
share capital was approved in the EGM meeting held on 24 May 2017 and accordingly, the ariginal
investmeant of SAR 120 million has been revised to AR 150 milion to reflect the capital increase.
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{ii)

(iii)

{iv)

The Group had invested 51% in Khozam Real Estate Development Company (KDC), with Jeddah
Development and Urban Regeneration Company (JDURC), As per the arrangements the power to
govern the financial and operating activities which affect the returns of KDC is jointly bestowed with
the shareholders. Accordingly, the Group does not have any right to variable returns or absolute
power to cantrol with the ability to affect the returns of the investea company consequently, the
Group’s investment in KDC is accounted for as investment in joint venture under equity methed of
accounting.

The ¥DC investment inciuce SR 250 million as an exciusive right to participate in the Khozam project
development and SR 276 million as capital contributions fully paid in cash. The other shareholder
(JDURCE] contributed SR 265 millicn worth of land as capital contribution. The management belleves
that the value of the total investment has not diminished.

During 2016 the group had invested in Eastern Juman Company a limited Liability Company
established mainly for the development of Juman project Jocated between Dammam and Ras
Tanura. The Company is registered In Riyadh under the Commercial Registration No. 1010452791
dated 15/10/1427H, {corresponding to 20/07/2016) with a share capital of SAR 8.2 million. The
group has paid SAR 1.5 million towards the 18.29% of its share capital and managerment believe that
the value of the total investment has not diminished or impaired,

9. OTHER ASSETS (DEFERRED CHARGES), NET

The movement during the year is as below:

2018 2017
SR Q00 SR 00D
Balance, beginning of the year 1,950 828
Additions during the year 1,412 1,122
Amortisation charge for the year {851) -
Balance, end of the vear 2,511 1,850
TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHERS
2018 2017
SR 000 SR Q00
Trade receivables — net of allowances for doubtful debts of
SR 19.02 miflion { 31 December 2017: 3R 19.02 million) 4,015,337 3,338,618
Advance payments to purchase land 558,670 553,670
Accryed revenue 20,548 2,219
Pregayments and others 144,459 131,955
Short tarm invastment- trading {note 10c} B62 863
4,740,877 4,033,325

The fajr value of financial assets included above approximates the carrying amount. Mo penalties are

chargad for delayed payments.

Trade receivable disclosed above include amounts {see below fer ageing analysis) that are past due from
the date of inveice, at the end of the reporting year for which the Group has not recognized an allowance
for doubtful debts because there has not been a significant change in credit guality.
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a} Ageing of trade receivables that are due but not impairad

2018 2017

SR 00D SR 000
re 0-60 days 490,553 1,839,702
: 51-120 days 580,897 656,027
121-180 davs 763,215 528,452
- Above 180 days 1,780,672 314,436
Total 4,015,337 3,238,618

- Ageing are from the date of invpice and the trade receivables inciude about 37% (31 December 2017:
P 983%) receivables against land and project sales which are fully secured against such tand and project
parcels.

L b) Expected Credit Loss evaluation of Account receivables

. The Graup consistently measures the less allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to
i lifetime ECL. The expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimatad using a provislon matrix by
reference to past default experience of the customer/tenant and shall also make a specific analysis of
respective customer/ tenant to assess the current financial position and any other related factars along
with general economic conditions of the industry in which the customerftenants operate and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of cenditions at the reporting date,

The Group has recognised full credit allpwance against all receivables where the analysis has indicated
that these receivables are generally not recoverable. The Group has not made any provisions against
the receivables against the sate of land and projects and dues and lease receivables from government
departmeants.

There has been ne change in the estimation techrigues or significant assumptions made during the
o current reporting period

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

_ 2018 2017
= SR 000 SR 000
Balance, beginning of the year 19,015 18,018
= Allowanze for the year - -
e Balance, end of the year 19,019 19,018
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- ¢} Short term investment ~ Fair value through profit or loss (FYTPL}

The group has an investment, classified as held for trading, through portfolio management account
with a leading Saudi Asset Mapagement broking institution {“fund manager’) and as per the portfolio

i management agreement the fund manager is allowed to trade in [slamic debt and equity securities on
behalf of the Group. The transaction during the year is detailed below:

2013 2017
SR 000 SRO00

Balance, beginning of the year B63 263

i Purchased / sold during the year - -
£63 263

Realised gains - -
P Total 863 263
_ Transfers/withdrawals - -
Balance, end of the year 863 Be3

Lo i

Investment includes SR 863 thousand as at 31 December 2018 {21 December 2017 SR 863 thousand}
representing cash depasit held with the fund manager. The funds are expected to be invested in the
subseguent periods.

. 11, CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2018 2017

SR 00D SR 000
Cashin hand 4,943 1,307
Cash with bank 4,898,542 3,158,358
Total - 4,903,491 3,159,666

12, LONG-TERM BORROWINGS
2018 2017

SR 040 SR 000
Islamic Sukuk 5,250,000 4,719,263
Islamic Murzbaha 1,413,475 1,760,575
.- 6,663,475 6,479,838
Less: Un-amortised transaction costs (note 12 b) {82,685) {&0,85A)
l Barrowings end of the year 6,580,790 £,308,082
Less: Borrowing -short-term maturity portion (1,849,623) {1,678,648)
Borrowing -long-term maturity portion —— 731,107 4,720,334

- 36 -



DAR AL ARKAN REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
v SAUDI IOINT STCCK COMPANY

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
== FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 {CONTINUED)

a. Repayahle as foliows:

2018 2017
SR0OQ0 5R 000
r
: Within one year 1,860,525 1,690,463
In the second year 351,300 1,859,325
P In the third ta fifth years inclusive 4,451,650 2,930,050
6,663,475 6,479,838
r l. k. Islamis borrowings transaction costs:
r
P 20118 2017
L. SR 0DC SROQ0
o Balance, beginning of the year 80,856 65,185
L Additions during the year 39,274 48,551
"- Arnortisation charge for the vear {37,445) {32,850)
Balance, end of the year 82,685 80,856

¢ Analysis of borrowings:

This represents SR 5.25 hillion of Islamic Sukuk comprising:

1) SR 1.50 hillion {JS0 400 million) of Islamic Sukuk carried In the books of the Group, issued by Dar Al-
Arkan Sukuk Company Ltd. at 6.5% and maturing in 2018,

21 SR 1.83 billion {USD 500 million) of Islamic Sukuk carried in the books of the Group, issued by Dar Al-
Arkan Sukuk Company Ltd. at 6.9% end maturing in 2022,

3} SR 1.88 biltion {USD 500 million} of Islamic Sukuk carried in the books of the Group, issued by Dar Al-
1 Arkan Sukuk Company Ltd. at 6.9% and maturing in 2023,

Islamic Sukuks listed abeove are denetad in US doliars. Since the Saudi Arabian Riyal is limited to
= fluctuations in the US Dollar there is no exposure to foreign exchange risk. The investrient profit is
payvable to the Saudi SPV, through which the Sukuk was issued, by the sale of properties owned by the
: Group., The beneficiary rights of these propertiez are with Dar Al Arkan Real Estate Development
Company and its subsidiaries with the rights to buy back the ownership of these properties upon the full

repayment of the Sukuk. The Group has issued a corporate guarantee to the Sukuk holders.

The Sukuk agreements include financial covenants, which the Group was in compliance with as at 31
December 2018.
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13,

Isigmic Muraboaha

This represents the bilateral Murabaha facilities frem local and international commercial banks, secured
against certain real estate properties, in the form of Islaric Murabaha, letters of guarantee and letters
of credit. These facilities comprise of long- term and short- term tanures ranging from 6 months to 9
years with various repayment schedules llke annual roll revolvers, buliet payments and instalment
repayments ranging from guarterly and half yearly as detailed below.

Summary of the Murabahas:

Outstanding
Maturity date Balance Short-term Long-term
SR 000 SR GO0 SR 800
2020 643,125 328,125 315,000
2023 513,350 17,400 495,950
2027 257,000 15,000 242,000
TOTAL 1,413,475 360,525 1,052,950

The total weighted average effective annual commission rate for the year ended 31 December 2018 is
6.88% (31 December 2017: 6.959%)

The facility agreements include certain financial covenants, which the Group was in compliance with as
at 31 December 2018,

END CF SERVICE INDEMMNITIES

The Group provides a defined end of service benefit plan to its employees in line with the labour law
provisions and requirement in the Kingdam of Saudi Arabia for respective entities under the Group. The
payments under the plan are based on the employees’ final salaries and allowances and their cumulative
years of service at the date of cessation of their employment, as defined by the conditions stated in the
labour laws of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabla. Employees’ end of service benafit plans are unfunded plans
where the respective entities meet the benefit payment obligations as it falls due.

The movement of the abligation accrued is as follows:

2018 2017
SR Q00 SK 000
Balance, beginning of the year 21,961 25,682
Charged to expenses during the year 4,122 5,129
Re-meaasurement gain (2,974) {2,675)
Pald during the yaar (4'098} [6,1?5}
Balance, end of the year 19,013 21,9561
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During the year tha Group conducted an actuarial valuation and the relevant disclosures are as foliows;

A- Sipnificant actuarial assumptiaons:

2018 2017
Discount rate 3.0% 3.0%
Long term salary increase rate 3.0% 3.0%
Employee attritions Modarate Moderate
B- Movement in present value of employee benefit obfigation
f
‘- 2018 2017
SR Q00 SRO0C
! Balance, beginning of the year 21,582 25,546
MNat pericd benefit cost 3,960 4,286
: Re-measurement gain (2,97a) {2,675}
E Paid during the year (3,894} (6,175)
Balance, end of the year 18,674 21,582
. C- Analysis of present value of abligation
L. 2018 2017
SR 000 SR QDO
E Benefit obligation earned and accurmulated to the date of
L financial position 14,743 16,023
Beneflts attributed to future salary ingrease 3,931 4,659
Total 18,674 21,582

D- Sensitivity Analysis of obligation

The sensitivity of emplayee benefit ebligation is calculated based on a change in an assumption while all
5 other significant actuarial assurnptions, used inn the valuations employee benefit obligation, remained
b unchanged. The vale impact in the obligation with a change Tnan assumption as follows:

. 2018 2017
o SR 000 SR 000
Discount rate +0.5% 17,976 20,715
j Discount rate - 0.5% 19,420 22,613
i Lohg term salary increase +0.5% 19,472 22,562
Long term salary increase - 0.5% 17,922 20,681
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E- FEffect of defined banefit plan on entity’s future cash flows

The weighted average duration of the employee benefit abligation is 7.72 vears for the year ended
Decemnber 33, 2018 {31 Oecember 2017: B.03 years). The expected maturity analysis of undiscounted
defined benefit obligation s as follows:

2018 2017
" SR 00O SR Q00
Within one year 2,017 2,286
. In the second vear 3,216 3,781
’ Between third and fifth years 4,565 5,490
’ Above five years 8,876 10,025
18,674 21,582
. 14, TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHERS
' 2018 2017
, SR 000 SR 000
: Trade pavables 440,472 173,352
Due to related parties {note 23a} 188,862 192,530
- Accruals 121,480 88,730
: Unpaid dividend 35,443 35,350
f Lease liability {note 22b) 2,047 2,301
- Unearned revenue 97,051 43,879
885,355 537,142
[

15,

Trade payables and others principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and on- going
tosts. The average credit period taken for trade purchases is 30 days (31 December 2017; 20 days),

The fair value of financial liabilities included above approximates the carrying amount.

ZAKAT PROVISIONS

a) The principal elements of the Zakat base are as follows:

2018 2017
) SR 000 SR 000
L Zakat base:
Equity 18,193,550 17,720,285
Provisions and other adjustments 2,841,995 3,386,684
| Total 2akat base 22,035,545 21,106,568
Deductions:
Total deduction after adjustment [22,035,545) (21,106,969}

Zakat base
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16,

B}  Adjusted net income for the year:

2013 2017
SR 000 SR 000
Adijusted net income:
Adjusted net income,net 506,447 546,161
Atjusted net income 506,447 546,161
Estimated Zakat and Tax provision for the year 13,046 14,443

c) The mevement in provision for Zakat:

Zakat is recognized and provided for in the financial staternents and the movement of Zakat is as

follows:
2018 2017
SRODO SROG0
Balance beginning of the year 549,670 537,494
Estimated Zakat for the year 13,045 14,443
Paid during the year (5,888} {2,267)
Estimated Zakat provision, end of the year 556,828 549,670

d} The Company has received the assessments from GAZT for the years 2003 to 2007. The company

had filed the consolidated zakat raturn for yvears 2008 to 2017,

SHARE CAPITAL
2018 2017

SR 000 SR Q00
Authorised!
1,060,000,000 ordinary shares of 3R 10 each 10,800,000 10,800,000
Issued and fully paid shares of SR 10 each
At the start of the year 10,800,000 10,800,000
At the end of the year 14,800,000 10,800,000

The Group has one tlass of ardinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.
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17, REVENUE
: For the year ended 31 December
Basis of
Recognition 2018 2017
SR 000 SR Q00
Sale of davelopment properties - At 2 point in time 6,251,657 4,563,391
Sale of residential properties - At a paintin time 24,830 21,428
Leasing of propertias -IFR5 16 135,778 149,863
Total 6,412,265 4,734,682
18. COST OF REVENUE
For the year ended 31 December
2018 2017
3R 000 SR 000
Development properties cost 5,264,418 3,534,439
Residential properties-cost 20,529 14,354
Birect cost on leasing — Depreciation 70,167 71,879
Total 5,355,114 3,620,672
19, GENERAL AND ADMINISTARTIVE EXPENSES
Far the year ended 31 December
2018 2017
SR 000 SR 000
General and administrative expanses 160,754 157,106
Depreciation (refer note 7 & 22a) 8,188 4,896
Total 168,942 162,002
20. FINANCE CO5TS
For the year ended 31 December
2018 2017
SR QDG SR 060
Charges on Sukuk 366,563 287,697
Chargas on Islamic Murabaha 107,619 120,915
Charges on Lease liability { note 22h) 25 61
Amortisation of transaction costs {note 12h) 37,445 32,850
Total 531,652 441,523
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21, EARNINGS PER SHARE
o The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

For the year ended 31 December

- 2018 2017
: SR 000 3R 000
Earnings
For the purpose of basic earnings per share
(Net profit for the year) 50B,E09 553,368
¢ tumber of sharas Number pMumber
. Weighted average number of ordinary shares
’ Far the purposes of basic earnings per share 1,0:80,000,000 1,080,000,000

There is no dilution of ordinary shares and as such the basic and diluted earnings per share calculation are
consistent,

22, OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

A: GROUP AS LESSEE

a) Right of use assets
Below is the "right of use assets’ for the lease arrangements entered and unexpired as at the
reporting date, qualifying for accounting under (FRS 16, The details and movements for this assets is
summarized as follows, and the depreciation charged to this asset is included in depreciation

EXpenses,
’ 2018 2017
) SR 00D 5R 000
COST
' AL beginning of the year 3,668 1,126
e Additions for the year 883 3,079
; Transfer/ retirements {589) {537)
At end of the year 3,962 3,608
L ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At beginning of the year 1,183 357
; Charged during the year 1,174 923
i Transfer/ retirements (589) {57}
At end of the year 1,763 1,182
NET BOOK VALUE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 2,194 2485

The balance inright of use assets are included with the property plan and equipmeant {refer note 7)
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b) Lease liability

L The “|lease liability” to account for its unexpired operating lease qualified for accounting under 1FRS
' 16 requirements and the details of the movements are as below. The interest cost accrued is
- included in the financing charges.

2018 2017
. SR 000 SR 000
P LIABILITY
: At beginning of the year 3,751 1,171
i Additions for the year aa3 3,079
Transfer/ retirements . {560)
i Finance cost for the year as 61
.- At end of the year 4,719 3,751
e PAYMENTS
At beginning of the year 1,450 429
L Paid durning the year 1,222 1,021
b At end of the vear 2,672 1,450
] BALANCE AT THE END OF THE YEAR 2,047 2,301

The balancain lease liability is included with trade payables and athers {refer note 14)

¢ Minimum lease payments
The minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease rentals are as follows:

L 2018 2017

_ SR 000 SR 040
Amounts due:
i Within one year 925 1,025
Beiween one and five years 2,270 2,463
After five years - -
3,195 3,488

B: GROUP AS LESSOR
The minimum lease receivables undar non-cancellable cperating lease rentals are as follows:!

: 2018 2017

SR 000 SR000
: Amounts Beceivable:
e Within one year 72,147 58,456
Between one and five years 172,482 145,604
After five years 35,220 29,782
279,849 234,882
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23. RELATED PARTY TRAMNSACTIONS

a}  Due to related parties

The Khozam Real Estate Development Company (KDC} management regquested to invest excess cash
balance of KDC with the group at a nominal profit. The details of the transactions, included in trade payzble
and other {refer note # 14}, are as follows:

i 10138 2017

b SR 000 SR 000

Balance, heginning of the year 192,530 193,363

Repaymeant of advances far the year (4,628) {1,553)

¢ Profit charged for the year 1) 720
Balance, end of the year 188,862 192,530

h] Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other membaers of key management parsennel during the year are as

follows:
.. For the year ended 31 Decemnber
2018 2017

SRO00 SR OOD

- Short-term benefits 3,328 2,641
: End-of-service benefits 256 857

Femunerations and attendance fees to Board of Directors

znd Executive Committee h Z
- 3,624 9,458

c] Other related party transactions

{7} Bank Alkhair B.S,C

= The Group engaged Bank Alkhair B.5.C, a non-associate entity, to provide general financial advisary,
Shariah’ compliance advises and management support for the recent international sukuk. The details of
the transactions, included in trade payable under trade payable and others {refer note # 14), are as

L follows:

[ 2018 2017

"- SR 000 5R 000
Balance, beginning of the year - 115

: Fees & expenses chargad for the year - {115}

L Arnounts pald during the year - -

Balance, end of the year - -

(i) Alkhalr Capital Saudi Arabia

The Group engaged Alkhair Capital Saudi Arabia, an associate entity, to provide general financial
advisary services under a duly signed Discretionary Portfolio Management Agreement (DPMAL,
representing and filing the decuments on behalf of the Group for requirements with CMA and other
statutory bodies, Shariah’ compliance reviews and management suppart for the local and international
borrowing including recent international sukuk issuances and leasing/subleasing of properties.
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The detazils of the transactions, included In trade payable under trade payable and others {refer note #
14}, are as follows:

2013 2017

SRODO SR 000
Fees and expenses on indirect engagement with group
Alkhair Capital Dubai during the year - 4,135
Amount paid during the year - {4,135}

Balance, end of the year - _ -

ok A R ATy

fiii) Alkhair Capital Bubkai Ltd,

The Group engaged Alkhair Capital Dubal, an associate entity, to provide general financial advisory,
and secondment services to international subsidiaries. The details of the transactions, includedin trade
payable under trade payable and others {refer note # 14), are as fellows:

2018 2017

SR QD0 SR 000
Balance, beginning of the year 897 -
Fees and expenses on indirect engagement with group
Alkhair Capital Dubai during the year 1,445 297
Amount paid during the year {2,342} -
Balance, end of the year - 897

For the year ended 23 December 2018 and 2017, no other transactions are enterad into with entities that
have commeon Board Members or Shareholders to the Group,

In addition, the Group entered into certain other transactions with related parties that did not have 2
significant impact on the financial position or comprehensive income of the Group,

See also note 8.
24, RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group makes payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans in the form of the General
Organisation of Social Insurance that are charged as an expense as they fall due. Fayments are made on
the basis of a percentage of qualifying salary for certain employees to this state-managed scheme.

The total cost charged to the consclidated statement of profit or loss and camprehensive income for the
year ended 31 December 2018 was SR 4.12 million {31 December 2017: 5R 5.13 million}, and the
outstanding contribution as at 31 December 2018 is SR 375 thousand (31 December 2017: SR 367
thousand]),

25. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The executive commitiee reviews the capital structure of the Group on a semi-annual basis. As part of this
review, the committee considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital, The
Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be ahle to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to its parent company through optimisation of debt and equity balances, The
Group’s overal] strategy remains unchanged from 2007, when the Group diversified its sources of funding
and issued two medium term Sukuks ranging from 3-5 years. Considering the track record of timely
repayrent of the first two Sukuk and the group expertise developed over the past five years to access
international markets for shariah’ compliant funding, the management continue to maintain its relatianship
with the capital markets and maonitor the markets fer future issugnce. The Group adhere to international
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best practices in corporate governance and consider the capital market transactions to create additicnal
e sharehalders value.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt {borrowings adjusted with cash and cash
equivalents) and equity {comprising share capital, statutory reserve, and retained earnings). The Group is
not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Gearfng ratie

o The Group consistently monitors its gearing ratio, to ensure compliance with external covenant
reguirements.

. The gearing ratio at end of the reporting year was as follows:

. 2018 2017
r SR 000 SR OO0
slamic borrowings 6,580,790 6,308,082
Cash and cash equivalents and short term deposits {(4,903,491) (3,159,666}
Net debt 1,677,299 3,239,316
Shareholders’ equity 13,705,333 18,733,550
: Net debt to equity ratio 9% 17%

26. FiANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's principal financial liabilities are mainly comprised of Islamic Murabaha {term and annual
revolving) facilities taken from banks, Issue of islamic Sukuk, trade payable and other payables to
contractors and suppliers. The paramount objectives of these financial instruments are to raise the funding

' base for various prajects as well as for the warking capital requirement of the Group.

: The Group also has financial assets In the form of hank depgsits, cash in hand, due from related parties and
- trade and other receivables, which are integral and directiy derived out of its regular business. On the
reporting date the Group has not entered into any non-1slamic financlal variable instrument contracts by
way of currency hedging, commission rate swap agreements or simitar instruments,

The Group's financial operations are subject to the following risks:

Credit Risk

Commission Rate Risk

Ligutdity Risk

Foreign Currency Risk

Islamic financial variable instrument

W e

Credlt Risk
The Credit Risk can be defined as a loss of value of an asset as a result of a failure by a custemer or 2
counter party to such commercially valid and legally enforceable contract to comply with its obligations,

' The general sales policy of the Group is "MNo Credit" terms, but in some cases there are enhanced payment
schedules or staggered payment regquest by selected customers which have been accommodated. In such
cases the Group has ah exposure of credit risk with respect to the amount due from those customers.
However, In such cases the Group holds back the final delivery or possession of the property to mitigate the
risk until the full amount due is paid to the satisfaction of the contract, The monitaring and follow up of
balances is completed regularly and as 2 result the Group's exposure to losses is limited.
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With respect to the credit risk exposure of other financial assets, namely, due from related parties, bank

deposits and trade and other receivahles, the maximum credit risk of the Group is limited to their carrying

values, in case there is a failure of the other party to meet its obligation.

= As of the reporting date, the Group does not have sipnificant credit risk concentration with any single party
or a group.

Commission Rate Risk
To Commission Rate Risk is associated with a change in the commission rate available when renegotiating
L financial instruments that are influenced by the current global financial market conditions. The Group Is
exposed to commission rate risk with respect to its floating commission covenants agreed for its Islamic
- Murabaha [revolving credit] facilities obtained fram local banks.

P The short term revalving botrrowings’ rates are renegotiated at every renewal propasal to achieve the best
possible commissian rate to reflact the given financial credentials and related risk perception of the Group.

The Group has a specific shartah’ complaint commission rate swap contract to manage its commission rate
risk. The Group's international borrowing commission rates are primarily based on LIBOR and Iits local
Lorrowings are based on SAIBOR. Hence the commission rate exposure of the Group is variable according
to the changes in the LIBOR & SAIBOR.

The commission rate sensitivity analysis is performed based on the commission rate exposure of the Group
- for floating rate liabilities outstanding at the reporting date. The caleulations are done an floating
' commission rates assuming the liabilities outstanding for 2 whole year a5 at the reporting date.

During the year under review the average rate of 3 months LIBOR varied between 2,39% and 2.82% [1.34%
and 1.7% for 2017} and SAIBOR varied betwean 2.73% and 2.98% [1.79% and 1.50% for 2017).

The sensitivity of commission rate variance on the Group's exiernal borrowings which affects the
consolldated financial statements of the Group is shown below:

_____ 2018 2017
§ SRO00 SR 000
' + 25 basis points 3,534 4,401

- 25 basis points {3,534) {4,401)

The net profit of the Group for the reported year would have been affected by the above amount a5 a
resutt of such changes in floating commission rates. [f thera is any capitalisation of borrowing costs directly
attributed to projects in progress, there wauld be timing differences on such an impact to the Group's
current profit and loss account and the current impact would he nil as there is no capitalisation for the
current year and historically, the management capitalises approximately 10% of borrowing costs to projects
in progress as explained in note 2.9.

Liquidity Risk
Liguidity Risk can result from a difficulty to meet the financial commitments and cbligations of the Group as
per the agreed terms and covenants.

To mitigate the liquidity risk and associated lesses of business ahd brand value opportunities; the Group,
) where possible, keeps sufficient liquid assets in all business conditions, The Group refrains from funding its
long term capital requirements through short term borrowings and related party current account
transactions. Currently the long term projects are funded from fong term or revalving borrewings only. The
Group also has a dynaric cash flow assessment policy and systern by which it can estimate and plan the
makurities as well as required resources to meet such obligations.

The total weighted average effective annual commission rate for the year ended 31 December 2018 is
6.88% {31 December 2017: 6.95%)
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[Shbaiabin s
. i

See notes 12 and 14 for further details.

a) The maturity profile of assets, liabilities and equity as at 21 Decernber 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

31 Decerber 2018 Within3 3 monthsto One year No fix?d Total

Manths 1vyear to 10 years maturity

SRO0D SR 000 SR OO0 SRO0D SR 000
Assets
Investiment propertiss, net - -+ - 1,683,141 1,693,141
Development properties - 349,329 - 14,148,262 14,497,591
Property and eguipment, net - - - 83,085 23,085
Investments in associates - - - 826,621 826,621
{Other assets - - 2,511 - 2,511
Trade receivabies and others - 4,740,877 - - 4,740,877
Cash and cash equivalents 4,903,491 - - - 4,903,491
Total assets 4,903,591 5,090,206 2,511 16,751,109 26,747,217
Liabilities and equity
Islamic borrowings 53,100 1,766,523 4,731,167 - 6,580,790
End of service indemnities - - - 19,011 18,011
Trade payables and others - 95,121 - 789,234 885,355
Zakat provisions - - - 556,828 556,824
Shareholders’ Equity - - - 18,705,333 18,705,333
Total llabilities and equity 83,100 1,862,644 4,731,167 20,070,406 26,747,317

Within2 3monthsto  Onevyear No fixed

31 December 2017 Months 1 year to 10 years maturity Total

SR 000 SR 000 SR 00D SR 000 SR 000
Assets
Investment properties, net - - - 3,280,010 3,290,010
Development properties - 132,675 - 14,751,565 14,874,240
Preperty and equipment, net - - - 70,5925 70,925
Investments in associates - - - 811,182 811,189
Cther assets - - 1,950 - 1,950
Trade receivabiles and others - 4,033,325 - - 4,033,325
Cash and cash eguivalents 3,158,666 - - - 3,158,666
Total assets 3,189,666 4,156,000 1,950 18,923,689 26,241,305
Liahilities ahd equity
islamic borrewings 82,800 1,555,848 4,720,334 - (,398,982
£nd of service indemnities - - - 21,961 71,961
Trade payables and others - 140,468 - 387,674 537,142
Zakat provisions - - - 845,670 548,670
Shareholders’ Equity - - - 18,733,550 18,733,550
Total liabilities and equity 82,800 1,745,316 4,720,334 19,692,855 26,241,305
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27.

28.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign Currency Risk is associated with the change in the value of the carrying value in the functicnal
currency due to the variation of the underlying foreign currency obligation or right by wav of transaction or
translation reasaons. The functional currency of the Group is the Saudi Riyal that is pegged agatnst the US
Collar with a fixed exchange rate of 3.75 Saudi Rivals per US Bollar. Since transactions, other than US
Dollars, are negligible; the Group does not assume any significant fereign currency risk.

Islamic financial variable Instruneents Risk

As part of its asset and liability managament, the Group uses Islamic finance variable instruments for
hedging its exposure to commission rate and cash flow risks. This s generally achieved by hedging specific
transactions. The Group uses Islamic finance variable instruments primarily to manage exposures to fareign
currency and commission rate risks. The Group's principal objective in holding Islamic finance variable
instruments is to reduce the cash outflows associated with changes in foreign currency and fixed
commission rates. Tha Group’s Islami¢ finance varizble instruments are exposed to credit risk to the extent
of that counterparty’s inability to meet the contractual obligations. The Group mitigates such rlsks by
dealing with major financial institutions as its counterparties. The group Management does nat expect any
material losses or risk from the default of counterparties as the potential risk of such defaults is periedically

monjtored.
COMMITMENTS AND CONTIGENCIES

To complete the leng term construction and development of investiment and development properties, the
Group have committed to a number of contractual arrangements and agreements. Such contracts are
cancellable at the Group's discretion with no penalties. The estimated uncompleted contracts cutstanding
as at 31 December 2018 amounts to SR 62 million {21 December 2017: SR 49 miltion) and performance
commitment through a bank guarantee for SR 74 million against receivable collected (31 Cecember 2017
SR 74 million).

These commitments are expected to be settled within the duration of the projects in progress and shall be
funded through prospective property sales and external borrowings, if necessary,

During the normal course of business there are general litigations and legal claims. Management takes
legal advice as to the likelihood of success of claims and no provision {s made when the action is uniikely to
succeed.

At 31, December 2018, there were no significant claims notified (31 December 2017: None).
APPROVAL OF THE COMSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The cansolidated financial staterments were approved by the board of directors and autharlzed for issue an
February 26, 2014,
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